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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
WACO DIVISION

TERRESTRIAL COMMS LLC,

Plaintiff Case No. 6:20-cv-00097

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

ACCO BRANDS USA LLC, AND
ACCO BRANDS CORPORATION,

Defendants

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff Terrestrial Comms LLC (“Plaintiff” or “Terrestrial”’) hereby asserts the
following claims for patent infringement against Defendant ACCO Brands USA LLC
and ACCO Brands Corporation (“Defendants” or “ACCQ”), and alleges, on information

and belief, as follows:

THE PARTIES

1. Terrestrial is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of
the Texas with its principal place of business at 17330 Preston Road, Suite 200D, Dallas,
Texas 75252.

2. On information and belief, Defendant ACCO Brands USA LLC is a Delaware
corporation with its headquarters at 4 Corporate Drive, Lake Zurich, Illinois 60047.

3. On information and belief, Defendant ACCO Brands Corporation is a Delaware

corporation with its headquarters at 120 Ricefield Lane, Hauppauge, New York 11788.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).

5. Defendant has committed acts of infringement in this judicial district.

6. On information and belief, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant
because Defendant has committed, and continues to commit, acts of infringement in the
state of Texas, has conducted business in the state of Texas, and/or has engaged in
continuous and systematic activities in the state of Texas.

7. On information and belief, Defendant’s instrumentalities that are alleged herein
to infringe were and continue to be used, imported, offered for sale, and/or sold in the
Western District of Texas.

8. On information and belief, Defendant maintains a regular and established place
of business in this Judicial District as evidenced by a recent job posting for a Marketing

Manager in Austin, Texas.

Category Marketing Manager

POSTEDON 11/7/2019  CLOSED ON 1/22/2020

] ACCOBrands ) Austin,TX £ Full Time

Job Posting for Category Marketing Manager at ACCO Brands
Achieve. Create. Collaborate. Organize.

Essential brands. Innovative products. Smart investment. Winning team. This is what you will find at ACCO Brands.
We are passionate about building a culture that is committed to the success of our employees. If you are looking for
an organization that offers rewarding opportunities and is dedicated to team orientation, learning and
development, and flourishes with success, we invite you to be a part of building our company for the future.

Are you looking for a workplace that is highly collaborative and transparent? Are you hoping to work with teams
that are positive, dedicated and passionate about their work? If your answers are yes, then Kensington, which
operates as the technology division of ACCO Brands (NYSE:ACCO), is a right place for you to work and grow your
career!

We are looking for Category Marketing Manager -Data Protection to work in our Austin, TX office.

As a Category Marketing Manager, you are responsible for developing the global marketing strategy to drive market
share growth and leadership in physical hardware security and data protection categories for the Kensington
brand. You are going to develop strategy and tactics to market and drive market share growth in physical hardware
security and data protection categories (includes physical and digital locks, biometrics, shredders, privacy filters) in
supported countries around the globe.

9. Venue is proper in the Western District of Texas pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b).

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 2



Case 6:20-cv-00097-ADA Document 1 Filed 02/10/20 Page 3 of 35

ACUSED PRODUCTS

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant makes, uses, imports, sells, and/or offers
for sale the Kensington Pro Fit Wireless Keyboard and Mouse, (collectively the “Accused
Products”).

11.  Upon information and belief, Defendant ACCO encourages and supports the use
of the Accused Products through its online support, advertising, and licensing

relationships with resellers.

THE PATENTS-IN SUIT

12. On August 29, 2006, United States Patent No. 7,098,850 (the “850 patent”),
entitled “Grounded Antenna for a Wireless Communication Device and Method,” was
duly and lawfully issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.

13. Terrestrial is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the
’850 patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patents
and the right to any remedies for infringement of them.

14. On March 20, 2007, United States Patent No. 7,193,563 (the “563 patent”),
entitled “Grounded Antenna for a Wireless Communication Device and Method,” was
duly and lawfully issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.

15. Terrestrial is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the
’563 patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patents
and the right to any remedies for infringement of them.

16. On August 12, 2008, United States Patent No. 7,411,552 (the “552 patent”),
entitled “Grounded Antenna for a Wireless Communication Device and Method,” was

duly and lawfully issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.
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17.  Terrestrial is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the
552 patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patents
and the right to any remedies for infringement of them.

18. On December 6, 2005, United States Patent No. 6,973,133 (the “133 patent”),
entitled “Integrated Radio Frequency Interface,” was duly and lawfully issued by the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office.

19.  Terrestrial is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the
’133 patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patents
and the right to any remedies for infringement of them.

20. On February 11, 2003, United States Patent No. 6,519,290 (the “290 patent”),
entitled “Integrated Radio Frequency Interface,” was duly and lawfully issued by the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office.

21. Terrestrial is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the
’290 patent, including the right to assert all causes of action arising under said patents
and the right to any remedies for infringement of them.

COUNT I - INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,098,850

22. Terrestrial repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 as if
fully set forth herein.
23.  Claim 1 of the 850 Patent recites:
1. A wireless communication device, comprising:
a substrate;
a wireless communication chip positioned on said substrate;

a ground plane positioned on said substrate;

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 4
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a first antenna operating at a first operating frequency and electrically
coupled to said wireless communication chip by a coupling element,
said first antenna also electrically coupled to said ground plane; and

said coupling element being arranged to act as a second antenna at a second
operating frequency.

24.  Without license or authorization and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant
has infringed and continues to infringe the ’850 Patent by making, using, importing,
offering for sale, and/or selling the Accused Products.

25.  As exemplified below, the Accused Products are a wireless communication device.

A wireless communication device, comprising:

The Accused Instrument communicates via Wireless USB Radio and Bluetooth.

Kensington Pro Fit Ergo Wireless Keyboard and Mouse -
keyboard and mouse se

Avsaiey I Stock
T, hruary 110 28201
&
—— Clam Your 5% Discount
$73.99 ol

Addto Cart

https://www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-keyboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

Three-Mode Power-Saving Switch

Allows you to toggle between 2.4GHz Blustooth. and O for best battery lfe.

https://[www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-kevboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

a substrate; a wireless communication chip positioned on said substrate,
a ground plane positioned on said substrate;

The chipset within the Accused Instrument comprises a substrate, a wireless

communication chip positioned on said substrate, and a ground plane positioned on one

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 5



Case 6:20-cv-00097-ADA Document 1 Filed 02/10/20 Page 6 of 35

side of that substrate:

The Accused Instrument utilizes a Nordic Semi Conductor nRF51802 chip, which

1s a wireless communication RF/Bluetooth Chip.
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ﬂ Products\,  Software and toolsx,  Newsw,  Applications~,  Supportx, A
>

NORDIC’
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nRF51802

Bluetooth Low Energy and 2.4
GHz SoC for cost-sensitive
applications

The nRF51802 is a general purpose, ultra-low power
QFN48 6xémm  SoC ideally suited for Bluetooth® Low Energy and
2.4 GHz proprietary wireless applications. It is built
around the 32-bit ARM® Cortex™-M0 CPU with 256
KB flash + 16 KB RAM. The flexible 2.4 GHz radio

https://www.nordicsemi.com/Products/Low-power-short-range-wirelessmRF51802

a first antenna operating at a first operating frequency and electrically
coupled to said wireless communication chip by a coupling element, said
first antenna also electrically coupled to said ground plane; and

The Accused Instrument utilizes an antenna that is electrically coupled to the
wireless communication chip and electrically shorted at one end to said ground plane:

The First Antenna is operates at a first frequency:

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 7
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Direct Coupling element, comprising a conductive tab that connects
The First Antenna to "Pin 32" Via a Group of Capacitors

mnn @uo

L )

Coupled to ground plane —;

said coupling element being arranged to act as a second antenna at a second
operating frequency.

The wireless communication chip is designed to support two antennas:

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 9
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31 ANT1 RF Differential antenna connection (TX and RX).
32 ANT2 RF Differential antenna connection (TX and RX).

https://infocenter.nordicsemi.com/pdf/mRF51802 PS v1.2.pdf?cp=5 5 0 0

The coupling element is capactively coupled to the Pin 31 — a pin designated for a

second differential antenna connection.

Thus, according to the functionality of the chip, the wiring pattern of the coupling

element with said chip the coupling element is arranged to operate at a second frequency.

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 10



Case 6:20-cv-00097-ADA Document 1 Filed 02/10/20 Page 11 of 35

26.  Terrestrial is entitled to recover from Defendant the damages sustained by
Terrestrial as a result of Defendant's infringement of the 850 Patent in an amount
subject to proof at trial, which, by law, cannot be less than a reasonable royalty, together
with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 284.

COUNT II - INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,193,563

27.  Terrestrial repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 as if
fully set forth herein.
28.  Claim 1 of the ’563 Patent recites:
1. A wireless communication device, comprising:

a substrate;

a wireless communication chip positioned on said substrate;

a ground plane positioned on said substrate; and

an antenna electrically coupled to said wireless communication chip and

electrically shorted at one end to said ground plane.

29.  Without license or authorization and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant
has infringed and continues to infringe the 563 Patent by making, using, importing,
offering for sale, and/or selling the Accused Products.
30.  As exemplified below, the Accused Products are a wireless communication device.

A wireless communication device, comprising:

The Accused Instrument communicates via Wireless USB Radio and Bluetooth.

Kensington Pro Fit Ergo Wireless Keyboard and Mouse -
keyboard and mouse se

$73.99

Addto Cart
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https://www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-keyvboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

Three-Mode Power-Saving Switch

Allows you to toggle between 2.4GHz, Bluetooth. and Off for best battery [ife.

https://[www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-kevboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

a substrate;
a wireless communication chip positioned on said substrate;

a ground plane positioned on said substrate; and
The chipset within the Accused Instrument comprises a substrate, a wireless
communication chip positioned on said substrate, and a ground plane positioned on one

side of that substrate:

The Accused Instrument utilizes a Nordic Semi Conductor nRF51802 chip, which
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1s a wireless communication RF/Bluetooth Chip.
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nRF51802

Bluetooth Low Energy and 2.4
GHz SoC for cost-sensitive
applications

The nRF51802 is a general purpose, ultra-low power
QFN48 éxémm  SoC ideally suited for Bluetooth® Low Energy and
2.4 GHz proprietary wireless applications. It is built
around the 32-bit ARM® Cortex™-M0 CPU with 256
KB flash + 16 KB RAM. The flexible 2.4 GHz radio

https://www.nordicsemi.com/Products/Low-power-short-range-wirelessmRF51802
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The Accused Instrument utilizes an antenna that is electrically coupled to the

wireless communication chip and electrically shorted at one end to said ground plane:

N
(e LLLLLTLTITERS

i D et

munann
UL

)
e
et |
e
Py

an antenna electrically coupled to said wireless communication chip and
electrically shorted at one end to said ground plane.
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31.  Terrestrial is entitled to recover from Defendant the damages sustained by
Terrestrial as a result of Defendant's infringement of the 563 Patent in an amount
subject to proof at trial, which, by law, cannot be less than a reasonable royalty, together
with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 284.

COUNT III - INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,411,552

32.  Terrestrial repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 as if
fully set forth herein.
33.  Claim 1 of the 552 Patent recites:
1. A wireless communication device, comprising:
a substrate;
a ground plane positioned on one side of the substrate;
a wireless communication chip electrically connected to said ground plane
and proximate thereto;
an antenna having a first end and a second end, said first end electrically
connected to said ground plane; and

said second end comprising an open circuit.

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 15
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34.  Without license or authorization and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant
has infringed and continues to infringe the 552 Patent by making, using, importing,
offering for sale, and/or selling the Accused Products.

35.  As exemplified below, the Accused Products are a wireless communication device
that communicates via Bluetooth and Wi-Fi.

A wireless communication device, comprising:

The Accused Instrument communicates via iWreless USB radio and Bluetooth.

Kensington Pro Fit Ergo Wireless Keyboard and Mouse -
keyboard and mouse se

https://[www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-kevboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

Three-Mode Power-Saving Switch
lows you to toggle between 2.4GHz. Bluetooth, and Offfor best battery life.

https://www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-keyvboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

a substrate; a ground plane positioned on one side of the substrate;

The chipset within the Accused Instrument comprises of a substrate and a ground

plane positioned on one side of that substrate:

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 16
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Substrate

substraggs\\’
] 1
® | I .

a wireless communication chip electrically connected to said ground plane
and proximate thereto;

The Accused Instrument includes a wireless communication chip (Nordic Semi

Conductor nRF51802).
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https://www.nordicsemi.com/Products/Low-power-short-range-wirelessmRF51802

NORDIC

SEMICONDUCTOR

nRF51802

Multiprotocol Bluetooth® low energy/2.4 GHz RF System on Chip

http://www.dnsj88.com/UploadFiles/File/2018-03/6365768083742048853690195.pdf

The wireless communicaiton chip is electrically connected to the groud plane and

proximate thereto.
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an antenna having a first end and a second end, said first end electrically
connected to said ground plane; and

The Accussed Instrument comprises an antenna having two ends, one electrically

connected to said ground plane and another comprising an open circuit:

“* First End Electrically _
I#— Connected4o grofind' |

36.  Terrestrial is entitled to recover from Defendant the damages sustained by
Terrestrial as a result of Defendant's infringement of the 552 Patent in an amount
subject to proof at trial, which, by law, cannot be less than a reasonable royalty, together

with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 284.
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COUNT IV - INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,973,133

37.  Terrestrial repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 as if
fully set forth herein.
38.  Claim 1 of the ’133 Patent recites:
1. An apparatus comprising:
a circuit configured to (1) communicate one or more Universal Serial Bus
(USB) data signals via a wireless radio signal comprising a single
frequency hopping sequence configured to support one or more USB
devices and (i1) enumerate said one or more USB devices.
39.  Without license or authorization and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant
has infringed and continues to infringe the '133 Patent by making, using, importing,
offering for sale, and/or selling the Accused Products.
40.  As exemplified below, the Accused Products are an apparatus comprising a circuit
configured to communicate USB data signals over a wireless frequency.

An apparatus comprising:

The Accused Instrumentality is an apparatus comprising a circuit configured to
communicate USB data signals over a wireless frequency to one or more USB devices

(e.g. keyboard and mouse) and to enumerate the USB devices.

Kensington Pro Fit Ergo Wireless Keyboard and Mouse -
keyboard and mouse se

5
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Addto Cart

https://www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-keyvboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857
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a circuit configured to (i) communicate one or more Universal Serial Bus
(USB) data signals via a wireless radio signal comprising a single frequency
hopping sequence configured to support one or more USB devices and

The Accused Products include a circuit configured to communicated one or more

USB data signals to support one more USB devices.

The Accused Products include a USB Transceiver unit.

USER MANUAL

Model NAME : 2.4G Wireless Mouse &Dongle

b/lODELNO. : MO01440-D

VERSION : 0.1
DATE : 2019.5.6
User Manual
VER: 0.1
6. Wireless specifications
Mouse&Dongle: 2.402-2.480GHz frequency coverage.
GFSK RF transceiver

High Speed RF link data rate Max. 1M bit/s

https://fecid.10/GV3-M01440D/Users-Manual/User-Manual-4329605

The circuit is a device configured to communicate via wireless radio frequency.
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https://fccid.io/GV3-M01440D/Internal-Photos/Internal-photos-4329600

The circuit is operable to communicate with one or more USB devices.

The host device (e.g. computer) communicates data through the circuit (e.g. USB
dongle) to a USB device (e.g. keyboard) via wireless radio signal.

As an example of this communication, when a user presses the “Caps Lock” key
on a computer which hosts the circuit, the “Caps Lock” indicator on the wirelessly

connected keyboard lights up.
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The circuit operates on a frequency hopping sequence (e.g. Gaussian frequency-

shift keying).

Anbotek E=g i1 }/!]

Anhotek Testing

Report No.. SZAWW190510012-01 FCC ID: GV3-M014400 Page1 of 40

FCC TEST REPORT

Client Name ACCO Brands, Inc

1500 Fashion Island Bivd_, 3rd Floor, San Mateo,

e CAg4404, United States

Product Name © Wireless dongle

Date Jun. 17, 2019

1.2. Description of Device (EUT)

| Wireless dongle

M01440-D

Kensington

DC 5V by USB Port

= | 1-2-1(Normal Sample), 1-2-2(Engineering Sample)

Operation Frequency: | 2403~2480MHz
Number of Channel: | 16 Channels

- | Modulation Type: GFSK
Antenna Type: PCB Antenna
Antenna Gain(Peak): | -4.35dBi

https://fccid.io/GV3-M01440D/Test-Report/RF-Test-Report-4329603
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The circuit operates between 2403 and 2480 MHz.

The frequency hopping sequence supports one or more USB devices (e.g. mouse

and keyboard).
(it) enumerate said one or more USB devices.

The Accused Instrumentality is operable to enumerate the USB devices.

HID Keyboard Device Properties X

General Driver Details Events Power Management

HID Keyboard Device
T

Property
Enumerator

Value
HID

o] omm
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HID-compliant mouse Properties

General Driver Detais Events Power Management

HID-compliant mouse
=

Property
Enumerator v

Value
[HID

7 Number of events: 2

Level Date and Time Source Event I Task Category
Kermel-Pnp

Event 400, Kernel-Pri A

General Details

Device HID\VID_062A8(PID_4C016MI_00\B861933056.080000 was configured.

Driver Name: keyboard.inf

™1 ce-bfc1-08002be10318)

Driver Date: 06/21/2006
Driver Version: 10.0.17763.348

Driver Provider: Microsoft

Driver Section: HID_Keyboard_Inst.NT
Dice CQEEI0

Matching Device Id: HID_DEVICE_SYSTEM_KEYBOARD.
o o

Device Updated: false
Parent Device: USB\VID_062ARPID_4COT&MI_00\7& 16ade63a& 08,0000

Log Name: ft-Windl el

Source: Kemel-pre. Logged: 1/8/2020 90533 AV
Event ID: a0 Task Category: None

Levek: information Keywords:

User: SYSTEM Computer: DESKTOP-QJSHCK
OpCode: info

More Information: ~ Event Log Online Hel

¥ Number of events: 2

Source Event D Task Categary
03 PM

Event 400, Kernel-PnP. |

General Datails

{Device HIDWID_047D&PID_BOSBEMI_O18C 010 1\BE6{5e2b 4080000 was confiqured.

{Driver Date: 06/21/2006

orivar Verson: 100.17763.1
[Driver Provider: Microsoft
Oriver Sacton: HID Mouse Inst NT

bfc1-08002b610318)

[sichia Oevice s D DevcE SvarvvoUSg
Device Updated: false
Parent Device: USB\VID. 0470810, 005B&M1_01\ 78411210605 080001

Log Name: | figurat

Source: Kemel-prp. Logged: 1/9/2020 12003 PM
EventID; 400 Task Categoryi None

Level: Information Keywords:

User: SYSTEM Computer  DESKTOP-OJSHCOK
OpCode: info

Mere Information:  Event Log Online Help

“A hardware ID is a vendor-defined string that Windows uses to match a device to

an INF file.”
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https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows-hardware/drivers/install/hardware-ids

41.  Terrestrial is entitled to recover from Defendant the damages sustained by
Terrestrial as a result of Defendant's infringement of the ’133 Patent in an amount
subject to proof at trial, which, by law, cannot be less than a reasonable royalty, together
with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 284.

COUNT V - INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,519,290

42.  Terrestrial repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 as if
fully set forth herein.
43.  Claim 1 of the 290 Patent recites:
1. An apparatus comprising:
a circuit configured to generate a wireless radio signal in response to one
or more first Universal Serial Bus (USB) data signals,
wherein said wireless radio signal comprises a single frequency hopping
sequence configured to support one or more USB peripheral wireless
network devices, and
said circuit is configured to (i) generate said one or more first USB data
signals in response to said wireless radio signal and
(i1) enumerate said one or more USB devices.
44.  Without license or authorization and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant
has infringed and continues to infringe the 290 Patent by making, using, importing,
offering for sale, and/or selling the Accused Products.
45. As exemplified below, the Accused Products are a circuit configured to

communicate USB data signals over a wireless frequency.
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An apparatus comprising:

The Accused Instrumentality is an apparatus comprising a circuit configured to
communicate USB data signals over a wireless frequency to one or more USB devices

(e.g. keyboard and mouse) and to enumerate the USB devices.

Kensington Pro Fit Ergo Wireless Keyboard and Mouse -
keyboard and mouse se

Austaibey i Stock
Thursday, aruary ¥ 1o 18
&
Was 88455 SAVESNIO0
$73.99 &

https://www.cdw.com/product/kensington-pro-fit-ergo-wireless-keyvboard-and-mouse-
keyboard-and-mouse-se/5735857

a circuit configured to generate a wireless radio signal in response to one or
more first Universal Serial Bus (USB) data signals,

The Accused Products include a circuit configured to generate a wireless radio
signal in response to one or more first Universal Serial Bus (USB) data signals.

The first data signal below is communicated between the host device and the USB
interface.

To set up the USB interface, the client drivers (provided by the host) communicate

with the receiver to establish the protocol as described below:

7 Number of events: 2

Level Date and Time Source Event D Task Category
D information 1/9/2020 12003 PM Kernel- P 410 None

Event 410, Kernel-PnP E
Genersl Details
[Device USB\VID_O4TDAPID_ 0058\ 6499204044 082 was started.

Oriver Name usbinf
465-11c1-8056

Logged 1972020 12003 P
Tosk Category: None

Keywords:

Computer:  DESKTOP-OJSHCIK

The service shown above is the USB generic parent driver.

https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows-hardware/drivers/usbcon/usb-common-class-
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generic-parent-driver

Some devices group interfaces into interface collections that work together to perform a

particular function. When interfaces are grouped in interface collections, the generic parent
driver treats each collection, rather than each individual interfaces, as a device. For more

information on how the generic parent driver manages interface collections, see

After the operatina svstem loads the client drivers for the interfaces of a composite device
the generic parent driver multiplexes the data flow from the client drivers, combining these
separate interactions into a single data stream for the composite device. The generic parent is
power policy owner for the entire composite device and all of its interfaces. It also manages

synchronization and PnP requests.

In response to said first data transaction the device is then registered to the
computer and begins transmitting a wireless frequency device to connect to peripheral

devices (a mouse and keyboard).

Then once the peripheral device is turned on, the USB Transceiver registers and

communicates with said device.

wherein said wireless radio signal comprises a single frequency hopping
sequence configured to support one or more USB peripheral wireless network
devices, and

The radio signal generated comprises a frequency hopping sequence to support
one or more peripheral devices.
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Anbotek Bealil o3|

Bl Anbotek Testing

Report No.. SZAWW130510012-01 FCC ID: GV3-M01440D Page1 of 40

FCC TEST REPORT

Client Name ACCO Brands, Inc

1500 Fashion Island Blvd., 3rd Floor, San Mateo,

Address CAD4404, United States

Product Name Wireless dongle

Date Jun. 17, 2019

1.2. Description of Device (EUT)

| Wireless dongle

*| M01440-0

| Kensi ngton

v || DC 5V by USE Port

=~ | 1-2-1(Normal Sample), 1-2-2(Engineering Sample)

Qperaticn Frequency 2403~2480MHz
Number of Channel: 16 Channels

- -~ = | Modulation Type: GFSK
Antenna Type PCB Antenna
Antenna Gain(Peak) -4 35 dBi

https://fccid.i0/GV3-M01440D/Test-Report/RF-Test-Report-4329603

The circuit is a device configured to communicate via wireless radio frequency.
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https://fccid.io/GV3-M01440D/Internal-Photos/Internal-photos-4329600

The circuit is operable to communicate with one or more USB devices.

https://www.logitech.com/assets/45924/wireless-combo-mk270-quick-start-guide.pdf

The circuit operates on a frequency hopping sequence (e.g. Gaussian frequency-

shift keying).

1.2. Description of Device (EUT)

Wireless dongle

M01440-D

Kensington

DC 5V by USB Port

1-2-1(Normal Sample), 1-2-2(Engineering Sample)
Operation Frequency: 2403~2480MHz

Number of Channel. 16 Channels

Modulation Type: GFSK I

Antenna Type PCB Antenna

Antenna Gain(Peak) -4.35dBi

https://fccid.io/GV3-M01440D/Test-Report/RF-Test-Report-4329603

The circuit operates between 2403 and 2480 MHz.
The frequency hopping sequence supports one or more USB peripheral devices

(e.g. mouse and keyboard).
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said circuit is configured to (i) generate said one or more first USB data
signals in response to said wireless radio signal and

The device generates a USB data signal in response to said wireless radio signal.

The circuit is a device configured to communicate via wireless radio frequency (e.g.

2.4 GHz wireless radio).

RF Chip

https://fccid.i0/GV3-M01440D/Internal-Photos/Internal-photos-4329600

The circuit is operable to communicate with one or more USB devices (e.g. Mouse
and Keyboard).

The transmitter in the wireless keyboard sends a data signal via a radio frequency
to the USB device which receives the radio signals and converts that data into a USB

data signal which is then communicated to the host device.

https://fecid.10/GV3-M01440K/Internal-Photos/Internal-photos-4329536

When the caps lock light when pressed on the wireless keyboard turns on the caps
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lock light on the host computers keyboard.

(it) enumerate said one or more USB devices.

The Accused Instrumentality is operable to enumerate the USB devices.

HID Keyboard Device Properties

General Driver Details Events Power Management

HID Keyboard Device

Property
Enumerator v

Value
HID
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HID-compliant mouse Properties

General Driver Detais Events Power Management

HID-compliant mouse
=

Property
Enumerator v

Value
[HID

7 Number of events: 2

Level Date and Time Source Event I Task Category
Kermel-Pnp

Event 400, Kernel-Pri A

General Details

Device HID\VID_062A8(PID_4C016MI_00\B861933056.080000 was configured.

Driver Name: keyboard.inf

™1 ce-bfc1-08002be10318)

Driver Date: 06/21/2006
Driver Version: 10.0.17763.348

Driver Provider: Microsoft

Driver Section: HID_Keyboard_Inst.NT
Dice CQEEI0

Matching Device Id: HID_DEVICE_SYSTEM_KEYBOARD.
o o

Device Updated: false
Parent Device: USB\VID_062ARPID_4COT&MI_00\7& 16ade63a& 08,0000

Log Name: ft-Windl el

Source: Kemel-pre. Logged: 1/8/2020 90533 AV
Event ID: a0 Task Category: None

Levek: information Keywords:

User: SYSTEM Computer: DESKTOP-QJSHCK
OpCode: info

More Information: ~ Event Log Online Hel

¥ Number of events: 2

Source Event D Task Categary
03 PM

Event 400, Kernel-PnP. |

General Datails

{Device HIDWID_047D&PID_BOSBEMI_O18C 010 1\BE6{5e2b 4080000 was confiqured.

{Driver Date: 06/21/2006

orivar Verson: 100.17763.1
[Driver Provider: Microsoft
Oriver Sacton: HID Mouse Inst NT

bfc1-08002b610318)

[sichia Oevice s D DevcE SvarvvoUSg
Device Updated: false
Parent Device: USB\VID. 0470810, 005B&M1_01\ 78411210605 080001

Log Name: | figurat

Source: Kemel-prp. Logged: 1/9/2020 12003 PM
EventID; 400 Task Categoryi None

Level: Information Keywords:

User: SYSTEM Computer  DESKTOP-OJSHCOK
OpCode: info

Mere Information:  Event Log Online Help

“A hardware ID is a vendor-defined string that Windows uses to match a device to

an INF file.”
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https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows-hardware/drivers/install/hardware-ids

46.  Terrestrial is entitled to recover from Defendant the damages sustained by
Terrestrial as a result of Defendant's infringement of the 290 Patent in an amount
subject to proof at trial, which, by law, cannot be less than a reasonable royalty, together
with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 284.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Terrestrial requests that this Court enter judgment against
Defendant as follows:

A. An adjudication that Defendant has infringed the 850 Patent, the 563
Patent, the 552 Patent, the 133 Patent, and the 290 Patent;

B. An award of damages to be paid by Defendant adequate to compensate
Terrestrial for Defendant's past infringement of the 850 Patent, the ’563 Patent, the 552
Patent, the '133 Patent, and the 290 Patent, and any continuing or future infringement
through the date such judgment is entered, including interest, costs, expenses and an
accounting of all infringing acts including, but not limited to, those acts not presented at
trial;

C. A declaration that this case is exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285, and an
award of Terrestrial's reasonable attorneys' fees; and

D. An award to Terrestrial of such further relief at law or in equity as the

Court deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands trial by jury, Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 38.
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Dated: February 10, 2020

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Respectfully Submitted

/s/ Raymond W. Mort, 111

Raymond W. Mort, II1
Texas State Bar No. 00791308
raymort@austinlaw.com

THE MORT LAW FIrM, PLLC
100 Congress Ave, Suite 2200
Austin, Texas 78701

Tel/Fax: (512) 865-7950

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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